#### Molecular and Cellular Endocrinology 460 (2018) 170-180

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

# Molecular and Cellular Endocrinology

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/mce

## The molecular complexity of primary ovarian insufficiency aetiology and the use of massively parallel sequencing

## Paul Laissue\*

Center For Research in Genetics and Genomics-CIGGUR, GENIUROS Research Group, School of Medicine and Health Sciences, Universidad del Rosario, Bogotá, Colombia

## ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 29 May 2017 Received in revised form 21 July 2017 Accepted 22 July 2017 Available online 23 July 2017

Keywords: Primary ovarian insufficiency Next generation sequencing Female infertility Molecular aetiology

## ABSTRACT

Primary ovarian insufficiency (POI) is a frequently occurring pathology, leading to infertility. Genetic anomalies have been described in POI and mutations in numerous genes have been definitively related to the pathogenesis of the disease. Some studies based on next generation sequencing (NGS) have been successfully undertaken as they have led to identify new mutations associated with POI aetiology.

The purpose of this review is to present the most relevant molecules involved in diverse complex pathways, which may contribute towards POI. The main genes participating in bipotential gonad formation, sex determination, meiosis, folliculogenesis and ovulation are described to enable understanding how they may be considered putative candidates involved in POI. Considerations regarding NGS technical aspects such as design and data interpretation are mentioned. Successful NGS initiatives used for POI studying and future challenges are also discussed.

© 2017 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

### Contents

1.	Introduction	170
	NGS: design and data interpretation	
3.	Bipotential gonad formation molecules: an overview	172
4.	Sex determination: ovary genes	173
5.	Meiosis genes	173
6.	Folliculogenesis and ovulation genes	175
	NGS in unrelated POI women	
8.	Concluding remarks	176
	Acknowledgements	. 176
	References	. 176

## 1. Introduction

The World Health Organization has defined human infertility as a disorder characterised by the failure to become pregnant after at least 12 months of regular and unprotected intercourse. It can be

*E-mail address:* paul.laissue@urosario.edu.co.

considered a public health concern since it affects more than 50 million couples worldwide (Datta et al., 2016; Mascarenhas et al., 2012). Although precise infertility prevalence has been difficult to establish, especially due to differences regarding its definition and because study populations vary depending on the pertinent inclusion/exclusion factors, 5%–20% has been reported (Datta et al., 2016; Mascarenhas et al., 2012).

Abnormalities explaining infertility in 70% of couples can be detected after standard clinical testing; however, despite considerable advances in human infertility diagnosis the aetiology remains unexplained in 30% of cases. Exclusively female factors





CrossMark

<sup>\*</sup> Corresponding author. Center For Research in Genetics and Genomics-CIGGUR, GENIUROS Research Group, School of Medicine and Health Sciences, Universidad del Rosario, Carrera 24 N° 63C-69, Bogotá, Colombia.

(accounting for a third of all causes of infertility) include dysfunction leading to ovulation disorders (e.g. oligomenorrhoea, amenorrhoea), tubal disease (e.g. obstruction) and endometrial pathology (endometriosis, miscarriage) (Smith et al., 2003). The correct functioning of each step (e.g. sex determination, meiosis, gametogenesis, folliculogenesis/oocyte maturation, ovulation) leading to healthy competent oocyte ovulation is certainly crucial for ensuring reproductive success in mammals. Dysregulation regarding any of these steps may lead to primary ovarian insufficiency (POI), currently affecting ~1.5% of women worldwide (Luborsky et al., 2003). POI is defined as the cessation of menses or spaniomenorrhea over 4 months and plasmatic levels of FSH over 25 IU/l, reflecting ovarian impairment thereby closing a feed-back loop in the pituitary gland (European Society for Human Reproduction and Embryology (ESHRE) Guideline Group on POI, 2016). It can result from disturbances during development (formation and recruitment) during follicles' stock establishment during embryo life or by its premature depletion due to abnormally high levels of atresia (Persani et al., 2011). Several POI aetiologies have been described, but most cases are still classified as idiopathic, thereby enhancing genetic factor research. Chromosomal abnormalities have been described, especially those involving the X chromosome, as deletions (Turner's syndrome) and translocations (Elsheikh et al., 2002; Lacombe et al., 2006). Point mutations have also been identified in some POI candidate genes, some of which have been formerly validated by functional tests as being aetiological (see below) (Laissue, 2015) (and references therein).

From a molecular view, it has been shown that hundreds of genes belonging to overlapping complex molecular cascades in ovarian tissue are subtly regulated during the numerous steps involved (i.e. from sex determination to ovulation) (Biason-Lauber and Chaboissier, 2015; Eggers et al., 2014; Hunter, 2015; Koopman, 2016; Matzuk and Burns, 2012; Matzuk and Lamb, 2008, 2002; Suzuki et al., 2015; Wood and Rajkovic, 2013) (and references therein). These genes are particularly interesting as their mutations might contribute towards POI aetiology.

Numerous genes have been analysed during the past two decades (especially by Sanger sequencing) to identify sequence variants related to POI. However, this task has been particularly challenging due to the high number of candidate genes and because of the limited genomic coverage of Sanger sequencing. Indeed, analyzing large genomic regions via direct sequencing involves numerous time-consuming PCR/sequencing experimental setup steps.

In an attempt to overcome this drawback, recent next generation sequencing (NGS) genomic screening approaches to familybased and non-related cases have identified new genes and mutations associated with specific female infertility disorders, such as POI (AlAsiri et al., 2015; Bouilly et al., 2016; Caburet et al., 2014, 2012; Carlosama et al., 2017; de Vries et al., 2014; Desai et al., 2017; Fauchereau et al., 2016; Fonseca et al., 2015; Guo et al., 2017; Patiño et al., 2017a; Qin et al., 2015a; Wood-Trageser et al., 2014; Bramble et al., 2016; França et al., 2017). NGS has certainly revolutionised medical genomics research as it has led to hundreds of monogenic and complex disease-related genes being described (McCarthy et al., 2013). NGS is currently being widely used for research and clinical purposes due to a concomitant decrease in its costs. However, data filtering and analysis is still challenging since it implies (especially for complex frequently-occurring pathologies) an in-depth knowledge of the molecular cascades regulating numerous physiological steps, as well as expertise in interpreting the potential pathogenicity conferred by particular mutations.

This review has thus been aimed at targeting the most relevant molecules involved in the diverse pathways playing key roles regarding ovarian tissue which may contribute towards POI. The main genes and proteins participating in bipotential gonad formation, sex determination, meiosis, folliculogenesis and ovulation are described to enable understanding how they may be considered putative candidates involved in POI. Considerations regarding NGS technical aspects such as design and data interpretation are mentioned. Successful NGS initiatives and future challenges are also discussed.

Taken together, the information presented here should enable a better understanding of the molecular origin of a frequentlyoccurring female disorder for clinicians and basic science researchers. It should also facilitate designing new diagnostic approaches and interpreting the molecular tests used in clinical environments.

### 2. NGS: design and data interpretation

During the past 10 years NGS has substantially contributed to the understanding of the molecular origin of rare and frequent diseases. This technique, which has evolved technically leading to improved levels of sensitivity, is available nowadays at affordable costs. All NGS platforms need DNA pre-processing to create a library for sequencing. Various steps are required: DNA fragmentation into specific sizes, generating blunt-ended DNA fragments, adapter ligation, PCR to increase library concentration and enrichment with specific capture probes (e.g. exons for exome sequencing). Varied NGS sequencing technologies are currently being offered by commercial brands, such as Illumina, Ion Torrent, Pacific Biosciences. Solid and Roche 454, each having advantages and pitfalls regarding genomic coverage of specific regions (repeated and GC rich, read sensitivity and costs) (Buermans and den Dunnen, 2014; Goodwin et al., 2016). Distinct NGS formats, mainly defined by the length of the genomic region which is to be sequenced, are available for research and diagnostic purposes. Three main formats are currently available: target sequencing microarrays (TSM) as panels of specifically selected regions, wholeexome sequencing (WES) which includes the entire genome's coding regions and whole-genome sequencing (WGS). TSM and WES sequencing are used for research and diagnosis while WES is reserved for investigative purposes due to the inclusion of extensive intron regions for which the functional nature remains largely unknown. One technically important NGS variable (named sequencing depth) is associated with the number of times that each nucleotide is read during a specific experiment. An appropriate read depth is essential for obtaining reliable results due to NGS' inherent nature which is based on resequencing DNA fragments susceptible to carrying unexpected variations caused by PCR amplification (Sims et al., 2014) (and references therein). For instance, it has been estimated that a 40X to 80X average depth is necessary to cover >90% of target genes for WES experiments and for high sensitivity genotyping of heterozygous SNPs (Clark et al., 2011; Meynert et al., 2014, 2013; Sims et al., 2014). Regarding diagnostic purposes, it has been proposed that a 120X depth in WES is suitable for identifying most non-synonymous variants causing disease (Kim et al., 2015). However, most research reports use PCR/ direct sequencing to validate candidate sequence variants identified by NGS screenings as the average depth read ranges between 10X-60X. After confirmation by Sanger sequencing, variants are used to establish links with normal or pathogenic traits. Distinct pipelines and variables have been used to select variants underlying potential pathogenic effects, depending on a disease's genetic nature (mono/polygenic), type of inheritance (dominant, recessive) and disease presentation (familial/non-familial). Several bioinformatics methods, some of them involving automatic tools for directly analysing NGS data, have been used for predicting missense variants' potential pathogenic effect. Some of them (e.g. SIFT, Polyphen) take conservation into consideration during interchanged residues' evolution for estimating a variant's probability of being deleterious. However, as databases still contain incomplete (not curated) sequences and because of structural/functional proteomics' inherent complexity, such predictors are not completely reliable. Manual inter-specific sequence alignments are also used, assuming that amino acid conservation at specific positions during evolution must have been related to functional characteristics. These features, as well as the fact that heterozygous variants are very numerous in the human genome, hamper selecting candidate variants which may potentially be responsible for frequently occurring oligogenic/polygenic diseases (in some cases).

Advantages of NGS on Sanger sequencing include the possibility to analyse numerous large genomic regions simultaneously at competitive costs. However, although NGS technology has rapidly evolved it still has disadvantages, as some genomic regions are not suitable covered and false positive/negative findings result from low read depth.

Regarding POI, several NGS studies, accompanied by genetic linkage analysis via microarray genotyping in some cases, have been performed in familial and isolated (non-related women) cases (Table 1) (AlAsiri et al., 2015; Bouilly et al., 2016; Caburet et al., 2014, 2012; Carlosama et al., 2017; de Vries et al., 2014; Desai et al., 2017; Fauchereau et al., 2016; Fonseca et al., 2015; Qin et al., 2015b; Wood-Trageser et al., 2014). These studies will be reviewed in next sections.

#### 3. Bipotential gonad formation molecules: an overview

Molecular factors and mechanisms, especially the subtle regulation of hundreds of genes belonging to numerous pathways, are major determinants of reproductive success in mammals. Sex determination is a fundamental early developmental event for establishing sexual dimorphism as well as a prerequisite for normal fertility and species' maintenance. It involves numerous molecular

## pathways enabling ovary and testis differentiation from a single undifferentiated gonad. Some genes have complex functioning as they are expressed during distinct phases of bipotential gonad formation/sex determination and their mutations can lead to sex reversal and infertility phenotypes.

An undifferentiated gonad becomes evident before embryonic day (E) 10.5 in mice, the genital ridges arise from the coelomic epithelium located in mesonephric tissue (Svingen and Koopman, 2013; Wainwright et al., 2014). Important roles have been described for at least six transcription factor-coding genes during bipotential gonad determination: Wilms' tumor suppressor 1 (*WT1*), nuclear receptor subfamily 5, group A, member 1 (*NR5A1*), LIM homeobox gene 9 (*LHX9*), GATA-binding protein 4 (*GATA4*), chromobox homolog 2 (*CBX2*) and empty-spiracles homeobox gene 2 (*EMX2*) (Biason-Lauber and Chaboissier, 2015). Although mutations in these genes have been mainly related to sex reversal phenotypes, they have also been linked to infertility conditions in some cases; this has been due to them being able to be expressed during other development stages.

WT1 encodes a zinc finger transcription factor having many alternative transcripts and isoforms. Two main isoforms having (KTS) or lacking (-KTS) three amino-acids (lysine, threonine, serine) between the third and the fourth zing fingers have mainly been studied. The protein's -KTS form has been shown to have classical DNA-binding transcription factor properties and greater DNA affinity than WT1-KTS which has higher binding affinity for RNA molecules (Bickmore et al., 1992; Laity et al., 2000; Rauscher et al., 1990). The homozygous deletion of *Wt1* in mice has led to a lack of gonads and kidneys in both genders, thereby demonstrating its crucial role during bipotential gonad formation (Kreidberg et al., 1993). Furthermore, the complete absence of *Sf1* expression in  $Wt1^{-/-}$  embryos has led to establishing that Wt1 participates in Sf1 regulation (Wilhelm, 2002). WT1 expression has also been observed during sex determination and testicular formation, underlining its crucial role during gonadal development (see

#### Table 1

Studies using NGS for identifying sequence variants related to POI aetiology.

POI presentation	NGS n format	Gene	Zygocity	In vitro testing	Reference
Familial	WES	STAG3	НН	Yes	Caburet et al., 2014
Familal	WES	SYCE1	НН	No	de Vries et al., 2014
Familial	WES	МСМ9	НН	Yes	Wood-Trageser et al., 2014
Familial	WES	МСМ9	HH	No	Fauchereau et al., 2016
Familial	WES	МСМ8	HH	Yes	AlAsiri et al., 2015
Familial	WES	CSB-PGBD3	HT	Yes	Qin et al., 2015a,b
Familial	WES	FSHR	HH	Yes	Bramble et al., 2016
Familial	WES	FSHR	HH	No	França et al., 2017
Familial Familial	WES WES	MSH5 MSH4	HH HH	Yes Yes	Guo et al., 2017 Carlosama et al., 2017
Non-familia	l TSM	LHCGR, BMPR2, ADAMTS19	HT	No	Fonseca et al., 2015
Non-familia		МСМ8/МСМ9	СН	No	Desai et al., 2017
Non-familia		LHX8, SOHLH1, SMC1β	HT	Yes	Bouilly et al., 2016
Non-familia	1 WES	HK3, NOTCH2, GATA4, INHBC, MLH3, PCSK5, TSC1, ATG7, UMODL1, HTRA3, NBL1, UBR2, PCSK1, BMP6, CXCR4, FGFR2, GREM1, MEI1, GJA4, IPO4, ADAMTS16, GDF9, PDE3A, PTCH1, BMPR1B, TSC2, BMPR1A, LAMC1, PTX3, FANCG, MCM9, SEBOX, FANCL, ZP1, BMPER, CYP26B1, PRDM1, STAG3, PADI6, KIT, THBS1, MTHFR, BRD2, SOX15, LEPR, PCSK6, SAPCD1, BMP5, C30rf77	HT	No	Patiño et al., 2017a

WES: whole-exome sequencing; TSM: target sequencing microarrays; HH: homozygous; HT: heterozygous; CH: compound heterozygous.

below). In humans, mutations in *WT1* have been liked to various phenotypes and diseases: Wilms tumor, WAGR (Wilms tumor, aniridia, genitourinary anomalies and mental retardation) syndrome, Frasier syndrome, Denys-Dash syndrome, Meacham syndrome and isolated diffuse mesangial sclerosis (Miller-Hodges and Hohenstein, 2012; Ezaki et al., 2015; Bahrami et al., 2017).

*NR5A1* encodes an orphan nuclear receptor which is expressed from E9.0 in mice. It performs essential actions during hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal-and gonadal axis development (Luo et al., 1994; Wong et al., 1996). Structurally, SF1 has a DNAbinding domain (DBD) with two zinc-chelating modules modulating receptor interaction with response elements. SF1 has a ligand-binding domain (LBD) and two activation domains, named AF-1 and AF-2. *Nr5a1* homozygous XY null mice have been affected by gonadal dysgenesis and male-to female sex reversal while *NR5A1* mutations in humans have been linked to sex determination disturbances and infertility, including POI (El-Khairi and Achermann, 2012).

LHX9 encodes a LIM protein family transcription factor consisting of a DNA-binding homeobox domain and two N-terminal domains expressed in the urogenital ridge's medial region (E9.5) (Birk et al., 2000). Lhx9 regulates Sf1 during early gonad development and its homozygous ablation in mice has displayed male-tofemale XY sex reversal secondary to anti-Müllerian hormone (AMH) and testosterone deficiency (Birk et al., 2000; Wilhelm, 2002). GATA4 is a member of the GATA transcription factor family, having two conserved type IV finger motifs which are involved in DNA-recognition, binding stability and interaction with cofactors (Tevosian, 2014) (and references therein). It has been shown that Gata4 is necessary for genital ridge development before the expression of other key genes, such as Emx2, Wt1, Nr5a1 and Lhx9 (Hu et al., 2013). Although, Gata4 knock-out (KO) mice die before birth secondary to drastic abnormalities in heart-tube development, animals carrying a target mutation located at the N-terminal zinc finger domain (*Gata4<sup>Ki</sup>* model) have been affected by testis differentiation disturbances (Kuo et al., 1997; Molkentin et al., 1997).

*GATA4* mutations in humans have been described in individuals affected by congenital heart disease and in a family displaying testicular developmental defects (Gly221Arg mutation) (Lourenço et al., 2011).

CBX2 belongs to the Polycomb family of transcriptional regulators which function by regulating chromatin structure (Schuettengruber et al., 2007). These proteins have been seen to play multiple roles during cell differentiation and molecular development, such as cell fate decisions, X-chromosome inactivation and sexual differentiation (Biason-Lauber and Chaboissier, 2015) (and references therein). Cbx2 homozygous XX KO mice have been seen to have small ovaries and infertility secondary to germ cell loss while XY individuals have been affected by male-tofemale sex reversal (Katoh-Fukui et al., 2012, 1998). Although a loss of function mutations in humans has been identified in individuals displaying male-to-female sex reversal, other kinds of mutations may have led to ovarian pathology, such as POI (Biason-Lauber et al., 2009). EMX2, which encodes a homeodomain transcription factor, has been seen to play a relevant role during central nervous and urogenital system development as KO animals lack gonads and genital tract (Miyamoto et al., 1997). However, little is known concerning its regulation on downstream gene targets.

#### 4. Sex determination: ovary genes

Classically, it has been accepted that a particular genomic region located on the Y-chromosome (the testis-determining locus-*Tdy* or testis-determining factor-*TDF*) is necessary for activating the male sex determination programme (Burgoyne et al., 1988; Koopman et al., 1989). Conversely, a lack of this region, as well as anti-testis and pro-ovarian gene expression, has led to female gonadal phenotype formation. *Sry* (the Y chromosome sex-determining region), located into the *Tdy*, has been defined as the key molecular actor which initiates testicular development (11.5 days post coitum (dpc) in mice) (Eggers et al., 2014; Koopman, 2016; Windley and Wilhelm, 2015) (and references therein). Thereafter, numerous genes such as *SOX9*, *AMH*, *DHH*, *FGF9* and *DMRT1* participate in a fine regulated network during male gonadal development (Koopman, 2016).

Regarding the female sex determination programme, winglesstype MMTV integration site family, member4 (Wnt4) and R-spondin 1 (Rspo1), initially expressed in early XX and XY structures, are specifically expressed in a developing ovary 11.5–12.5dpc (Nef et al., 2005; Parma et al., 2006; Vainio et al., 1999). Wnt4 is a member of the Wnt family of secreted factors acting in a paracrine manner during development. Wnt and Rspo1 activate and stabilise  $\beta$ -catenin (CTNNB1) thereby contributing to the regulation of downstream genes having key functions during ovary development. Molecular signalling involving WNT4, RSPO1 and CTNNB1 act downstream SRY expression by antagonising pro-testicular factors (Jameson et al., 2012; Kim et al., 2006; Nicol and Yao, 2015). WNT4 heterozygous mutations (exerting a dominant negative effect) in humans have been linked to Mullerian aplasia and hyperandrogenism, while homozygous changes have led to sex reversion, kidneys, adrenal and lung dysgenesis (SERKAL syndrome) (Biason-Lauber et al., 2004; Biason-Lauber and Chaboissier, 2015: Mandel et al., 2008). Due to WNT4's key role during female gonadal development, its mutations might also be related to specific ovary diseases lacking sex-reversal phenotypes (e.g. POI). However, although WNT4 has been genotyped in women affected by POI, functional mutations have not been described (Chen et al., 2011; Lakhal et al., 2012). Concerning RSPO1 and human disease, homozygous drastic mutations have been reported in patients affected by XX sex reversal, skin cancer and, palmoplantar hyperkeratosis (Parma et al., 2006; Tomaselli et al., 2008). However, other kinds of mutation may contribute to ovary dysfunction and infertility.

Forkhead box L2 (FOXL2) encodes a forkhead box transcription factor family member involved in several development-related biological processes. FOXL2 has been described as being one of the earliest markers of ovarian development and its expression throughout female fertile life (in granulosa cells) contributes towards preserving ovarian function. Foxl2 is also expressed in the mesenchyme of developing eyelids as well as in pituitary thyrotroph and gonadotroph cells (Crisponi et al., 2001; Ellsworth et al., 2006). It has been proposed that FOXL2 may directly and indirectly regulate many target genes (e.g. SOX9, FST, CYP19A1, CDKN1B, PTGS2, BCL2A1, FSHB) playing relevant roles during sex determination and ovarian function (Georges et al., 2013) (and references therein). Foxl2 gene invalidation in XX mice has led to gonadal abnormalities without sex-reversal (Schmidt et al., 2004; Uda et al., 2004) whereas FOXL2 mutations in humans have been associated with blepharophimosis, ptosis, epicanthus inversus syndrome (BPES), a rare dominant disease, displaying POI (BPES type I) (Crisponi et al., 2001). Interestingly, although FOXL2 mutations have not been related to XX sex-reversal, three cases have been linked to POI without BPES (Elzaiat et al., 2017). These findings illustrate that sex determination factors can be coherent candidates related to gonadal-related female infertility disorders.

#### 5. Meiosis genes

Human primordial follicles (formed by an oocyte and a single

layer of pre-granulosa cells) arise from a pool of primordial germ cells (PGCs) during the first steps of ovary development. Meiosis I is initiated after a series of mitotic PGC divisions but becomes transitorily arrested until puberty when mature follicles are activated secondary to LH secretion. LH effects at this stage lead to nuclear maturation, germinal vesicle breakdown and the termination of meiosis I. Oocytes then initiate meiosis II which is arrested during metaphase II before ovulation.

Several factors playing distinct roles for ensuring normal female fertility are involved in meiosis I. Retinoic acid (RA), derived from vitamin A metabolism, has been demonstrated to be one of the first molecules inducing the initiation of meiosis (Bowles et al., 2006; Koubova et al., 2006). A lack of vitamin A in rats has led to germ cell dysfunction as they were unable to enter meiosis (Li and Clagett-Dame, 2009). RA binding to its receptor (RAR) acts as a transcription factor for regulating STRA8 expression, a key gene involved in meiosis initiation (Koubova et al., 2006). Female Stra8 KO mice have been seen to have small ovaries (a large depletion of germ cells was observed at birth) and suffer infertility related to an arrest of germ cell development during the premeiotic stage. Indeed, these cells were unable to perform chromosome condensation (Baltus et al., 2006). It has been shown that Stra8 expression is inhibited by Nanos2 while Nanos2 -/- mice males have been affected by an early loss of germ cells leading to infertility (Suzuki and Saga, 2008; Tsuda et al., 2003). It has been shown that Nanos3 play an important role in mice aimed at maintaining the amount of PGC while a non-synonymous mutation in humans has been functionally linked to POI (Wu et al., 2013).

STAG3, REC8, SMC3, SMC1B and RAD21L encode cohesins during the pre-leptotene stage, thereby ensuring chromatid binding (Herrán et al., 2011; Hodges et al., 2005; Prieto et al., 2004). Caburet et al. (2014) have described exome sequencing experiments in POIaffected women belonging to a family from a Middle Eastern region having a background of consanguinity. This approach, which complemented previous mapping assays carried out via genetic linkage analysis, led to identifying the homozygous c.968delC (p-Phe187fs\*7) in the STAG3 gene (Caburet et al., 2014, 2012). Female Stag3 KO mice were sterile secondary to very early ovarian dysgenesis and complete lack of follicles/oocytes in postnatal animals (Caburet et al., 2014). Synaptonemal complex axial elements were short in mutant foetal oocytes and the Sypc3 protein (a key transverse filament component) was absent. These findings, as well as low (or absent) Stag3 colocalisation levels with other cohesins (Rec8, Smc3, Smc1 $\beta$ , Rad211) in Stag3<sup>-/-</sup> ovaries, underlined this protein's importance for synaptonemal complex and cohesion structure formation during meiosis.

Specific germ cell proteins, such as SYCP1, SYCP2, SYCP3, SYCE1, SYCE2, SYCE3 and HORMAD1, participate in synaptonemal complex formation during the leptotene phase, thereby enabling homologous chromosome pairing (Cahoon and Hawley, 2016; Lu et al., 2014) (and references therein). Sycp1 has aroused particular interest since mouse  $Sycp1^{-/-}$  ovaries have been seen to be small and lacking growing follicles and oocytes (de Vries et al., 2005). Such findings have suggested a key role for Sycp1 during meiosis/oocyte development and fertility. Recently, WES has enabled detecting a drastic homozygous nonsense mutation (p. Gln205X) in the meiotic SYCE1 gene in two daughters of consanguineous Muslim-Arab parents (de Vries et al., 2014). Syce1 is expressed in the synaptonemal complex of meiotic chromosomes and *Syce1<sup>-/-</sup>* KO female mice have been seen to be affected by infertility secondary to an almost complete absence of oocytes (Bolcun-Filas et al., 2009; Costa et al., 2005). Thus, it was highly probable that SYCE1-p. Gln205X was related to POI.

The *SPO11* gene, which is homologous to a type II DNA topoisomerase catalytic subunit, is also expressed during the leptotene stage, contributing to DNA double-strand break (DSB) formation and marking the initiation of recombination (de Massy, 2013). *Spo11* genetic invalidation in mice has led to infertility secondary to a drastic reduction in the number of follicles at adult age (Romanienko and Camerini-Otero, 2000).

A complex becomes formed with NBS1/MRE11/RAD50 proteins after DSB formation and H2AX histone binding to the breaks. DMC1. RAD51, SYCP3 and TEX15 interact at this stage, leading to chromosome synapsis and homologous recombination. Genetically modified mouse models for several of these genes have shown infertility-related ovary dysfunction. Mre11 hypomorphic mutant alleles (due to a nonsense mutation truncating the protein's C-ter end) have led to an ataxia-telangiectasia-like disorder. Females suffering dysfunction during DSB formation, chromosome synapsis and recombination has led to oocyte elimination during folliculogenesis (Inagaki et al., 2016). Rad50 modified genetic animals have produced fewer and smaller litters than their wild counterparts and ovarian atrophy has been recorded (Roset et al., 2014). Dmc1 KO female embryos have ceased normal oogenesis, thereby leading to germ cell depletion in adult ovaries (Pittman et al., 1998; Yoshida et al., 1998). Interestingly, it has been proposed that the DMC1p.Met200Val mutation might have led to infertility as it has been discovered at homozygous state in a woman affected by POI (Mandon-Pepin et al., 2008). In vitro functional tests have shown that the mutant protein has reduced stability and restricted capability for catalysing recombination reactions (Hikiba et al., 2008).

MCM8 and MCM9 are additional important molecules involved in DNA damage repair a key process occurring during homologous recombination. A study of two Turkish families affected by POI and short stature, analysed by 180K comparative genomic hybridisation (CGH), SNP oligonucleotide arrays and WES, led to identifying two homozygous mutations in MCM9 (c.1732 +2T > C and c. 394C > T) leading to the synthesis of truncated proteins lacking important functional regions (Wood-Trageser et al., 2014). Similar to the phenotype observed in infertile Mcm9-deficient mice, these mutations were related to an increased amount of chromosomal breaks due to an impairment regarding DNA damage repair and, in fine, to oocyte death and POI (Lutzmann et al., 2012; Wood-Trageser et al., 2014). Fauchereau et al. (2016) identified the MCM9 c.1483G > T mutation (p.Glu495X) by linkage analysis and WES sequencing experiments in a familial case of POI. The MCM8 c.446C > G (p.Pro149Arg) homozygous mutation, identified via homozygote mapping and WES in three sisters born from consanguineous parents, had a similar functional effect to that produced by MCM9 homozygous variants (AlAsiri et al., 2015).

In a familial case of POI (4 affected women) with no history of consanguinity, WES led to finding the heterozygous p. Gly746Asp mutation in the *CSB-PGBD3* fusion gene (Qin et al., 2015b). Functional tests have shown that the mutant protein was unable to normally respond to DNA damage, leading to oocyte depletion. Sanger sequencing on >400 POI unrelated women has revealed additional mutations (p. Val1056Ile, p. Glu215X) also displaying functional disturbances (Qin et al., 2015b).

Another group of proteins which is necessary for meiosis progression consists of MSH4, MSH5, MLH1, MLH3, TEX11 and PMSD2. These factors act during genetic recombination regulation, genome stability conservation and repeat sequence expansion (Manhart and Alani, 2016) (and references therein). *Msh4* and *Msh5* knock out (KO) mice (males and females) have been seen to be sterile secondary to defective chromosome synapsis during meiosis (de Vries et al., 1999; Edelmann et al., 1999; Kneitz et al., 2000). Similarly, germ cell loss and sterility have been recorded in models of mice lacking *Mlh1* and *Mlh3* (Baker et al., 1996; Edelmann et al., 1996; Lipkin et al., 2002).

WES screening of a Han Chinese family identified the

homozygous c.1495G > T (p.Asp487Tyr) mutation in the *MSH5* gene which led, in the Msh5 <sup>D486Y/D486Y</sup> KI mouse model, to a drastic infertility phenotype (Guo et al., 2017). When WES was recently performed in a familial POI case, it led to the identification of the homozygous *MSH4* c.2355+1G > A splice-site mutation which was associated with the generation of aberrant transcripts and MSH4 inactivation (Carlosama et al., 2017).

Oocytes arrest and begin early folliculogenesis following chromosome recombination, at the meiosis I of diplotene stage. Meiosis then becomes resumed during puberty (diakinesis stage).

## 6. Folliculogenesis and ovulation genes

Folliculogenesis encompasses all stages of ovarian follicle maturation (primordial, primary, secondary and tertiary follicles), involving the fine-tuned expression of hundreds of genes. Some of them attract particular interest as their genetic invalidation in mice and mutations in humans have been linked to female infertility phenotypes. Human primordial follicles are formed during gestation compared to their development after birth in rodents. The number of primordial follicles and oocytes at this stage constitutes one of the main variables responsible for ovarian reserve and time of fertility.

The factor in the germline  $\alpha$  (FIGLA), belonging to the bHLH transcription factor family, has been described as having key functions during primordial follicle formation.

This factor (specifically synthesised by oocytes) regulates the expression of genes that encode glypoproteins of the zona pellucida (*ZP1, ZP2* and *ZP3*) (Liang et al., 1997). Human and mouse primordial follicles express *FIGLA*. *Figla*<sup>-/-</sup> mice are sterile secondary to primordial follicle loss after birth (Bayne et al., 2004; Soyal et al., 2000). It has been shown that Figla activates specific downstream oocyte-specific genes while testis genes become simultaneously inhibited. *FIGLA* mutations in humans were formerly associated with non-syndromic POI by functional tests (Zhao et al., 2008). Other genes have been shown to play important roles during primordial follicle stock establishment and ovarian reserve. This is true for *Ccn2, Foxl2, Pdk1, Atg7, Birc1, Ntrk1/2/3, Bdnf, Ngf, Mcm8* and *Fst* which have mainly been studied in genetically-modified models of mice.

Primordial to primary follicle activation is independent of the effect of hormones and implies several genes belonging to different molecular cascades. FOXO3, which is expressed by primordial follicle oocytes, acts downstream of the PI3K/AKT signalling pathway to participate in various molecular pathways having relevant roles in ovarian biology (e.g. galactose-1-phosphate uridyltransferase-GALT and prolactin). Mouse *Foxo3<sup>-/-</sup>* become massively activated leading to premature ovarian reserve depletion (Castrillon et al., 2003). Some mutations in *FOXO3* coding regions have been linked to POI but not to functional tests performed to date (Vinci et al., 2008; Wang et al., 2010).

Similarly, the oocyte-specific deletion (conditional KO) of *Pten* (another molecule involved in the PI3K/AKT/FOXO3A pathway) has led to infertility in mice due to premature activation of primordial follicles (Reddy et al., 2008). Although screened for mutations, women affected by POI no causative mutations have been identified to date (Shimizu et al., 2009).

SOHLH1 and SOHLH2, LHX8 and NOBOX (participating in the same molecular cascade) are relevant transcription factors involved in primordial to primary follicle transition. *SOHLH1* and *SOHLH2* are expressed in germ cell cysts, primordial and primary follicles but not in secondary follicles (Choi et al., 2008b; Pangas et al., 2006). Mice lacking these genes have displayed premature infertility secondary to a blockade of primordial follicle development. *SOHLH2* sequence variants in humans have been identified in

women suffering POI, though functional tests have not been performed (Qin et al., 2014).

LHX8, directly regulated by SOHLH1, is a LIM homeodomain protein having functions from the embryonic ovary throughout all the stages of folliculogenesis (Choi et al., 2008a; Pangas et al., 2006). This protein participates in regulating various downstream key genes involved in ovary physiology and development, such as *Zp1, Zp2, Zp3, Kit, Kitl, Pou5f1, Casp2, Casp3* and *Nlrp* members (Wood and Rajkovic, 2013) (and references therein). *Lhx8<sup>-/-</sup>* KO female mice have been seen to become infertile due to premature oocyte loss and impaired follicular development (primordial to primary transition) (Choi et al., 2008a; Pangas et al., 2006).

The newborn ovary homeobox gene (NOBOX) is another gene coding a transcription factor involved in the transition to primary follicles. Nobox is expressed in mice in oogonia from E15.5 and thereafter throughout folliculogenesis (Rajkovic et al., 2004; Suzumori et al., 2002; Wood and Rajkovic, 2013). Numerous downstream genes involved in follicular development such as Oosp1, Gdf9, Ast1 and Jag1 are directly or indirectly regulated by Nobox (Choi et al., 2007). Similarly to Sohlh $1^{-/-}$  animals, newborn female mice lacking Nobox have displayed a normal number of germ cells and primary follicles but follicles were not able to progress to the primary stage of development during early postnatal stage, leading to their premature depletion and infertility (Rajkovic et al., 2004). Regarding humans, numerous coding mutations have been identified in POI-affected women, some of whom have displayed functional in vitro pathogenic affects (Bouali et al., 2016: Bouilly et al., 2015, 2011: Ferrari et al., 2016: Li et al., 2017: Oin et al., 2007). Interestingly, it has been shown that deleterious protein aggregates formed by some NOBOX variants colocalize with FOXL2 which argues in favor of an oligogenic/polygenic nature of POI (Ferrari et al., 2016).

BMP15 and GDF9 are other factors involved in regulating folliculogenesis and ovulation, constituting key actors in ovarian biology and fertility in mammals. These proteins (belonging to the TGF- $\beta$  growth factor family) are expressed by oocytes throughout development and participate in various functions, such as follicle development, granulosa cell mitosis, ovulation rate physiology and modulating granulosa cell sensitivity to FSH (Laissue, 2015; Persani et al., 2011). BMP15 and GDF9 (forming homodimers and heterodimers) bind to specific serine/threonine kinase receptors located on granulosa cell surface to activate intracellular signalling (e.g. via SMAD molecules) and regulate target genes.

BMP15 and GDF9 biological functional behaviour has been seen to have particular complexity since mutations in different mammalian species have displayed distinct phenotypes. Homozygous and heterozygous missense mutations in sheep have led to infertility and hyperfertility phenotypes due to ovulation rate dysfunction (Galloway et al., 2000; Hanrahan et al., 2004; Laissue et al., 2008). Homozygous Gdf9 and Bmp15 KO female mice have displayed complete infertility and hypofertility, respectively (Dong et al., 1996; Yan et al., 2001). Concerning humans, BMP15 genotyping of more than 1000 women to date has led to identifying numerous coding variants potentially related to the phenotype, several of which have been tested by different in vitro functional tests (Di Pasquale et al., 2004; Laissue, 2015; Laissue et al., 2008; Patiño et al., 2017b; Persani et al., 2014; Rossetti et al., 2009). These variants' functional impact has been associated with cellular and molecular deleterious effects/mechanisms, such as reduced granulosa cell growth, mature proteins' defective secretion and activity, a dominant heterozygous mutation effect and significantly reduced ability to synergise with GDF9 (Di Pasquale et al., 2004; Patiño et al., 2017b; Rossetti et al., 2009). Interestingly, the BMP15 c.-9C > G sequence variant has been linked to POI as it has led to promoter transactivation disturbances secondary to potential PITX1 transcription factor binding dysfunction (Fonseca et al., 2014). Regarding *GDF9*, mutations have been described in POI-affected patients and in women with twinning, though no functional tests have been undertaken (Laissue et al., 2008; Persani et al., 2014).

Apart from the aforementioned genes, dozens of others are involved in follicle formation and maturation (Roy and Matzuk, 2006). These molecules will be not reviewed in depth in the present manuscript but may constitute relevant candidates for POI aetiology.

The transition from preantral to antral follicles represents the beginning of the extraovarian regulation of folliculogenesis which is mainly regulated by hormone signalling through the hypothalamic-pituitary-gonadal axis. FSH and LH (and their receptors, FSHR and LHCGR, respectively) are the most important proteins involved in this step which leads to ovulation. In rodents, folliculogenesis can proceed up to the preantral stage without Fshr (Dierich et al., 1998; Abel et al., 2000). Numerous steps and feedback loops are necessary to regulate the final steps of follicle development/maturation and ovulation, involving several key molecules, such as estradiol, follistatin (FST), inhibins and activins. Rare homozygous FSHR mutations in humans have been linked to POI, especially in Finnish population (e.g. the partial loss of function FSHR-p. Ala189Val mutation) (Aittomaki et al., 1995; Rannikko et al., 2002; Laissue, 2015). A complete loss of function mutation (Pro519Thr) in FSHR has been associated to a blockade of follicular growth after the primary stage (Meduri et al., 2008). Recently, two novel *FSHR* homozygous mutations (c.1222G > T, p. Asp408Tyr and c.1298C > A. p. Ala433Asp) have been identified by NGS in women belonging to consanguineous families affected by POI (Bramble et al., 2016; França et al., 2017). Functional tests showed that the p. Asp408Tyr mutation led to a significant reduction of protein in membrane and downstream FSH-stimulated cAMP production (Bramble et al., 2016).

The luteinising hormone receptor (LHCGR) is highly expressed in pre-ovulatory granulosa cells to respond to LH secretion, thereby contributing to cumulus expansion, follicle rupture and meiosis resumption. Lhcgr-KO mice have displayed small ovaries lacking pre-ovulatory follicles and thin uteri which have been related to infertility (Lei et al., 2001; Zhang et al., 2001). Several LHCGR mutations leading to POI have been described in humans, especially in families having distinct 46XY and 46XX fertility phenotypes. Conditional KO of the activin/inhibin- $\beta$ A subunit in the ovary of mice has led to subfertility while inhibin- $\alpha$  subunit deletion has produced sex cord stromal tumours (Matzuk et al., 1992; Pangas et al., 2007). Some *INHBA* sequence variants have been identified in POIaffected women but no functional tests have been performed to formerly associate them with the disease's aetiology (Shelling, 2012).

Taken together, the genes described above as well as numerous additional molecules can be considered as candidates for POI which can be analysed at genomic level via massively parallel sequencing.

### 7. NGS in unrelated POI women

At least four studies, performed in non-related women affected by POI, have described using NGS for selecting candidate aetiological variants (Bouilly et al., 2016; Fonseca et al., 2015; Patiño et al., 2017a; Desai et al., 2017). TSM format has been used by Fonseca et al. (2015) for sequencing 70 genes and by Bouilly et al. (2016) for sequencing 19 genes (Bouilly et al., 2016; Fonseca et al., 2015). Nineteen percent of Fonseca's patients and 25% of Bouilly's patients were carriers of potential heterozygous deleterious variants, some of which (e.g. BMPR2-p. Ser987Phe, LHX8-p.Ala325Val, SOHLH1-p.Ser174Leu, SOHLH1-p.Pro218Thr, SOHLH1p.Leu306Met, SMC1 $\beta$ -pIle221Thr) had functional effects (Bouilly et al., 2016; Patiño et al., 2017c). Interestingly, 36% of the patients (7 out 19) referred to in Bouilly et al.,'s paper had a digenic origin for the disease. Similarly, in a very recent report, a POI oligogenic/ polygenic nature was also found by using NGS (Patiño et al., 2017a); a panel of 420 genes from WES experiments was analysed in this study which involved 69 unrelated POI women. Forty-eight percent of these patients had potentially deleterious sequence variants while 42% carried at least two mutations in two genes. Robust computational approaches suggested that GREM1 and BMPR1B mutations (BMPR1B-p.Arg254His, BMPR1B-p.Phe272Leu, GREM1p.Arg169Thr) likely led to protein stability disturbances contributing to the disease's origin (Patiño et al., 2017b). Interestingly, 64% of patients having candidate aetiological heterozygous mutations in a meiotic gene have also carried a second mutation in a different one. This feature has led to proposing that some heterozygous mutations in meiotic genes might be associated with a background of POI predisposition. Sanger sequencing of MCM8 and MCM9 and WES in a panel of unrelated POI patients led to the description of novel variants in these genes which were potentially related to the disease's pathogenesis (Desai et al., 2017). WES sequencing (n = 19)was focused on MCM8/MCM9 analysis in that study and did not explore further potential aetiological mutations.

#### 8. Concluding remarks

Ovary physiology and molecular regulation in mammals involve hundreds of molecules, finely regulated in terms of gene expression, which have been strictly selected during evolution to guarantee reproductive fitness and species maintenance. Fruitful projects have demonstrated that NGS is an efficient tool for mapping new variants participating in POI aetiology which should be used in the near future for diagnosis/prognosis. However, several challenges still have to be overcome, such as the analysis of a considerable amount of data issuing from massive NGS experiments, the interpretation of human genomic variability in terms of interactome pathways and the participation of non-coding genomic regions regarding the disease's origin. Indeed, although NGS approaches have increased the amount of genes and mutations involved in POI, a relevant proportion of the "missing heritability" has yet to be resolved. WGS and epigenetic research therefore seem mandatory for a better understanding of POI pathogenesis as well for other frequently-occurring reproductive phenotypes. In such scenario it is essential that clinical practitioners and scientists reinforce their research interactions in the context of new translational medicine initiatives.

## Acknowledgements

This study was supported by the Universidad del Rosario [Grant: CS/ABN062/GENIUROS-2017].

#### References

- Abel, M.H., Wootton, A.N., Wilkins, V., Huhtaniemi, I., Knight, P.G., Charlton, H.M., 2000. The effect of a null mutation in the follicle-stimulating hormone receptor gene on mouse reproduction. Endocrinology 141, 1795–1803. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1210/en.141.5.1795.
- Aittomaki, K., Lucena, J.L., Pakarinen, P., Sistonen, P., Tapanainen, J., Gromoll, J., Kaskikari, R., Sankila, E.M., Lehvaslaiho, H., Engel, A.R., Nieschlag, E., Huhtaniemi, I., de la Chapelle, A., 1995. Mutation in the follicle-stimulating hormone receptor gene causes hereditary hypergonadotropic ovarian failure. Cell 82, 959–968.
- AlAsiri, S., Basit, S., Wood-Trageser, M.A., Yatsenko, S.A., Jeffries, E.P., Surti, U., Ketterer, D.M., Afzal, S., Ramzan, K., Faiyaz-Ul Haque, M., Jiang, H., Trakselis, M.A., Rajkovic, A., 2015. Exome sequencing reveals MCM8 mutation underlies ovarian failure and chromosomal instability. J. Clin. Invest. 125, 258–262. http://dx.doi.org/10.1172/JCI78473.

- Bahrami, A., Joodi, M., Maftooh, M., Ferns, G.A., Ahmadi, M., Hassanian, S.M., Avan, A., 2017. The genetic factors contributing to the development of Wilm's tumor and their clinical utility in its diagnosis and prognosis. J. Cell Physiol. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/jcp.26021.
- Baker, S.M., Plug, A.W., Prolla, T.A., Bronner, C.E., Harris, A.C., Yao, X., Christie, D.M., Monell, C., Arnheim, N., Bradley, A., Ashley, T., Liskay, R.M., 1996. Involvement of mouse Mlh1 in DNA mismatch repair and meiotic crossing over. Nat. Genet. 13, 336–342. http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/ng0796-336.
- Baltus, A.E., Menke, D.B., Hu, Y.-C., Goodheart, M.L., Carpenter, A.E., de Rooij, D.G., Page, D.C., 2006. In germ cells of mouse embryonic ovaries, the decision to enter meiosis precedes premeiotic DNA replication. Nat. Genet. 38, 1430–1434. http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/ng1919.
- Bayne, R.A.L., Martins da Silva, S.J., Anderson, R.A., 2004. Increased expression of the FIGLA transcription factor is associated with primordial follicle formation in the human fetal ovary. Mol. Hum. Reprod. 10, 373–381. http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/ molehr/gah056.
- Biason-Lauber, A., Chaboissier, M.-C., 2015. Ovarian development and disease: the known and the unexpected. Semin. Cell Dev. Biol. 45, 59–67. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1016/j.semcdb.2015.10.021.
- Biason-Lauber, A., Konrad, D., Navratil, F., Schoenle, E.J., 2004. A WNT4 mutation associated with müllerian-duct regression and virilization in a 46,XX woman. N. Engl. J. Med. 351, 792–798. http://dx.doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa040533.
- Biason-Lauber, A., Konrad, D., Meyer, M., DeBeaufort, C., Schoenle, E.J., 2009. Ovaries and female phenotype in a girl with 46,XY karyotype and mutations in the CBX2 gene. Am. J. Hum. Genet. 84, 658–663. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/ j.ajhg.2009.03.016.
- Bickmore, W.A., Oghene, K., Little, M.H., Seawright, A., van Heyningen, V., Hastie, N.D., 1992. Modulation of DNA binding specificity by alternative splicing of the Wilms tumor wt1 gene transcript (80-. ). Science 257, 235–237.
  Birk, O.S., Casiano, D.E., Wassif, C.A., Cogliati, T., Zhao, L., Zhao, Y., Grinberg, A.,
- Birk, O.S., Casiano, D.E., Wassif, C.A., Cogliati, T., Zhao, L., Zhao, Y., Grinberg, A., Huang, S., Kreidberg, J.A., Parker, K.L., Porter, F.D., Westphal, H., 2000. The LIM homeobox gene Lhx9 is essential for mouse gonad formation. Nature 403, 909–913. http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/35002622.
- Bolcun-Filas, E., Hall, E., Speed, R., Taggart, M., Grey, C., de Massy, B., Benavente, R., Cooke, H.J., 2009. Mutation of the mouse Syce1 gene disrupts synapsis and suggests a link between synaptonemal complex structural components and DNA repair. PLoS Genet. 5, e1000393. http://dx.doi.org/10.1371/ journal.pgen.1000393.
- Bouali, N., Francou, B., Bouligand, J., Lakhal, B., Malek, I., Kammoun, M., Warszawski, J., Mougou, S., Saad, A., Guiochon-Mantel, A., 2016. NOBOX is a strong autosomal candidate gene in Tunisian patients with primary ovarian insufficiency. Clin. Genet. 89, 608–613. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/cge.12750.
- Bouilly, J., Bachelot, A., Broutin, I., Touraine, P., Binart, N., 2011. Novel NOBOX loss-offunction mutations account for 6.2% of cases in a large primary ovarian insufficiency cohort. Hum. Mutat. 32, 1108–1113. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/ humu.21543.
- Bouilly, J., Roucher-Boulez, F., Gompel, A., Bry-Gauillard, H., Azibi, K., Beldjord, C., Dodé, C., Bouligand, J., Mantel, A.G., Hécart, A.-C., Delemer, B., Young, J., Binart, N., 2015. New NOBOX mutations identified in a large cohort of women with primary ovarian insufficiency decrease KIT-I expression. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 100, 994–1001. http://dx.doi.org/10.1210/jc.2014-2761.
- Bouilly, J., Beau, I., Barraud, S., Bernard, V., Azibi, K., Fagart, J., Fèvre, A., Todeschini, A.L., Veitia, R.A., Beldjord, C., Delemer, B., Dodé, C., Young, J., Binart, N., Fevre, A., Todeschini, A.L., Veitia, R.A., Beldjord, C., Delemer, B., Dode, C., Young, J., Binart, N., 2016. Identification of multiple gene mutations accounts for a new genetic architecture of primary ovarian insufficiency. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 101, 4541–4550. http://dx.doi.org/10.1210/jc.2016-2152.
- Bowles, J., Knight, D., Smith, C., Wilhelm, D., Richman, J., Mamiya, S., Yashiro, K., Chawengsaksophak, K., Wilson, M.J., Rossant, J., Hamada, H., Koopman, P., 2006. Retinoid signaling determines germ cell fate in mice. Science 312, 596–600. http://dx.doi.org/10.1126/science.1125691.
- Bramble, M.S., Goldstein, E.H., Lipson, A., Ngun, T., Eskin, A., Gosschalk, J.E., Roach, L., Vashist, N., Barseghyan, H., Lee, E., Arboleda, V.A., Vaiman, D., Yuksel, Z., Fellous, M., Vilain, E., 2016. A novel follicle-stimulating hormone receptor mutation causing primary ovarian failure: a fertility application of whole exome sequencing. Hum. Reprod. 31, 905–914. http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/humrep/ dew025.
- Buermans, H.P.J., den Dunnen, J.T., 2014. Next generation sequencing technology: advances and applications. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1842, 1932–1941. http:// dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.bbadis.2014.06.015.
- Burgoyne, P.S., Buehr, M., Koopman, P., Rossant, J., McLaren, A., 1988. Cell-autonomous action of the testis-determining gene: sertoli cells are exclusively XY in XX—-XY chimaeric mouse testes. Development 102, 443–450.
- Caburet, S., Zavadakova, P., Ben-Neriah, Z., Bouhali, K., Dipietromaria, A., Charon, C., Besse, C., Laissue, P., Chalifa-Caspi, V., Christin-Maitre, S., Vaiman, D., Levi, G., Veitia, R.A., Fellous, M., 2012. Genome-wide linkage in a highly consanguineous pedigree reveals two novel loci on chromosome 7 for non-syndromic familial premature ovarian failure. PLoS One 7, 1–6. http://dx.doi.org/10.1371/ journal.pone.0033412.
- Caburet, S., Arboleda, V.A., Llano, E., Overbeek, P.A., Barbero, J.L., Oka, K., Harrison, W., Vaiman, D., Ben-Neriah, Z., García-Tuñón, I., Fellous, M., Pendás, A.M., Veitia, R.A., Vilain, E., 2014. Mutant cohesin in premature ovarian failure. N. Engl. J. Med. 370, 943–949. http://dx.doi.org/10.1056/ NEJMoa1309635.

Cahoon, C.K., Hawley, R.S., 2016. Regulating the construction and demolition of the

synaptonemal complex. Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol. 23, 369-377. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1038/nsmb.3208.

- Carlosama, C., El Zaiat, M., Patiño, L.C., Mateus, H.E., Veitia, R.A., Laissue, P., 2017. A homozygous donor splice-site mutation in the meiotic gene MSH4 causes primary ovarian insufficiency. Hum. Mol. Genet. http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/hmg/ ddx199.
- Castrillon, D.H., Miao, L, Kollipara, R., Horner, J.W., DePinho, R.A., 2003. Suppression of ovarian follicle activation in mice by the transcription factor Foxo3a. Science 301, 215–218. http://dx.doi.org/10.1126/science.1086336.
- Chen, B., Suo, P., Wang, B., Wang, J., Yang, L., Zhou, S., Zhu, Y., Ma, X., Cao, Y., 2011. Mutation analysis of the WNT4 gene in Han Chinese women with premature ovarian failure. Reprod. Biol. Endocrinol. 9, 75. http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/1477-7827-9-75.
- Choi, Y., Qin, Y., Berger, M.F., Ballow, D.J., Bulyk, M.L., Rajkovic, A., 2007. Microarray analyses of newborn mouse ovaries lacking. Nobox. Biol. Reprod. 77, 312–319. http://dx.doi.org/10.1095/biolreprod.107.060459.
- Choi, Y., Ballow, D.J., Xin, Y., Rajkovic, A., 2008a. Lim homeobox gene, lhx8, is essential for mouse oocyte differentiation and survival. Biol. Reprod. 79, 442–449. http://dx.doi.org/10.1095/biolreprod.108.069393.
   Choi, Y., Yuan, D., Rajkovic, A., 2008b. Germ cell-specific transcriptional regulator
- Choi, Y., Yuan, D., Rajkovic, A., 2008b. Germ cell-specific transcriptional regulator sohlh2 is essential for early mouse folliculogenesis and oocyte-specific gene expression. Biol. Reprod. 79, 1176–1182. http://dx.doi.org/10.1095/ biolreprod.108.071217.
- Clark, M.J., Chen, R., Lam, H.Y.K., Karczewski, K.J., Chen, R., Euskirchen, G., Butte, A.J., Snyder, M., 2011. Performance comparison of exome DNA sequencing technologies. Nat. Biotechnol. 29, 908–914. http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/nbt.1975.
- Costa, Y., Speed, R., Ollinger, R., Alsheimer, M., Semple, C.A., Gautier, P., Maratou, K., Novak, I., Höög, C., Benavente, R., Cooke, H.J., 2005. Two novel proteins recruited by synaptonemal complex protein 1 (SYCP1) are at the centre of meiosis. J. Cell Sci. 118, 2755–2762. http://dx.doi.org/10.1242/jcs.02402.
- Crisponi, L., Deiana, M., Loi, A., Chiappe, F., Uda, M., Amati, P., Bisceglia, L., Zelante, L., Nagaraja, R., Porcu, S., Ristaldi, M.S., Marzella, R., Rocchi, M., Nicolino, M., Lienhardt-Roussie, A., Nivelon, A., Verloes, A., Schlessinger, D., Gasparini, P., Bonneau, D., Cao, A., Pilia, G., 2001. The putative forkhead transcription factor FOXL2 is mutated in blepharophimosis/ptosis/epicanthus inversus syndrome. Nat. Genet. 27, 159–166. http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/84781.
- Datta, J., Palmer, M.J., Tanton, C., Gibson, L.J., Jones, K.G., Macdowall, W., Glasier, A., Sonnenberg, P., Field, N., Mercer, C.H., Johnson, A.M., Wellings, K., 2016. Prevalence of infertility and help seeking among 15 000 women and men. Hum. Reprod. 31, 2108–2118. http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/humrep/dew123.
- Desai, S., Wood-Trageser, M., Matic, J., Chipkin, J., Jiang, H., Bachelot, A., Dulon, J., Sala, C., Barbieri, C., Cocca, M., Toniolo, D., Touraine, P., Witchel, S., Rajkovic, A., 2017. MCM8 and MCM9 nucleotide variants in women with primary ovarian insufficiency. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 102, 576–582. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1210/jc.2016-2565.
- Dierich, A., Sairam, M.R., Monaco, L., Fimia, G.M., Gansmuller, A., LeMeur, M., Sassone-Corsi, P., 1998. Impairing follicle-stimulating hormone (FSH) signaling in vivo: targeted disruption of the FSH receptor leads to aberrant gametogenesis and hormonal imbalance. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 95, 13612–13617.
- Dong, J., Albertini, D.F., Nishimori, K., Kumar, T.R., Lu, N., Matzuk, M.M., 1996. Growth differentiation factor-9 is required during early ovarian folliculogenesis. Nature 383, 531–535. http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/383531a0.
- Edelmann, W., Cohen, P.E., Kane, M., Lau, K., Morrow, B., Bennett, S., Umar, A., Kunkel, T., Cattoretti, G., Chaganti, R., Pollard, J.W., Kolodner, R.D., Kucherlapati, R., 1996. Meiotic pachytene arrest in MLH1-deficient mice. Cell 85, 1125–1134.
- Edelmann, W., Cohen, P.E., Kneitz, B., Winand, N., Lia, M., Heyer, J., Kolodner, R., Pollard, J.W., Kucherlapati, R., 1999. Mammalian MutS homologue 5 is required for chromosome pairing in meiosis. Nat. Genet. 21, 123–127. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1038/5075.
- Eggers, S., Ohnesorg, T., Sinclair, A., 2014. Genetic regulation of mammalian gonad development. Nat. Rev. Endocrinol. 10, 673–683. http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/ nrendo.2014.163.
- El-Khairi, R., Achermann, J.C., 2012. Steroidogenic factor-1 and human disease. Semin. Reprod. Med. 30, 374–381. http://dx.doi.org/10.1055/s-0032-1324720.
- Ellsworth, B.S., Egashira, N., Haller, J.L., Butts, D.L., Cocquet, J., Clay, C.M., Osamura, R.Y., Camper, S.A., 2006. FOXL2 in the pituitary: molecular, genetic, and developmental analysis. Mol. Endocrinol. 20, 2796–2805. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1210/me.2005-0303.
- Elsheikh, M., Dunger, D.B., Conway, G.S., Wass, J.A.H., 2002. Turner's syndrome in adulthood. Endocr. Rev. 23, 120–140. http://dx.doi.org/10.1210/edrv.23.1.0457.
- Elzaiat, M., Todeschini, A.-L., Caburet, S., Veitia, R.A., 2017. The genetic make-up of ovarian development and function: the focus on the transcription factor FOXL2. Clin. Genet. 91, 173–182. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/cge.12862.
- European Society for Human Reproduction and Embryology (ESHRE) Guideline Group on POI, Webber, L., Davies, M., Anderson, R., Bartlett, J., Braat, D., Cartwright, B., Cifkova, R., de Muinck Keizer-Schrama, S., Hogervorst, E., Janse, F., Liao, L., Vlaisavljevic, V., Zillikens, C., Vermeulen, N., 2016. ESHRE Guideline: management of women with premature ovarian insufficiency. Hum. Reprod. 31, 926–937. http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/humrep/dew027.
- Ezaki, J., Hashimoto, K., Asano, T., Kanda, S., Akioka, Y., Hattori, M., Yamamoto, T., Shibata, N., 2015. Gonadal tumor in Frasier syndrome: a review and classification. Cancer Prev. Res. (Phila) 8, 271–276. http://dx.doi.org/10.1158/1940-6207.CAPR-14-0415.
- Fauchereau, F., Shalev, S., Chervinsky, E., Beck-Fruchter, R., Legois, B., Fellous, M.,

Caburet, S., Veitia, R.A., 2016. A non-sense MCM9 mutation in a familial case of primary ovarian insufficiency. Clin. Genet. 89, 603–607. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1111/cge.12736.

- Ferrari, I., Bouilly, J., Beau, I., Guizzardi, F., Ferlin, A., Pollazzon, M., Salerno, M., Binart, N., Persani, L., Rossetti, R., 2016. Impaired protein stability and nuclear localization of NOBOX variants associated with premature ovarian insufficiency. Hum. Mol. Genet. 25, 5223–5233. http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/hmg/ddw342.
- Fonseca, D.J., Ortega-Recalde, O., Esteban-Perez, C., Moreno-Ortiz, H., Patiño, L.C., Bermúdez, O.M., Ortiz, A.M., Restrepo, C.M., Lucena, E., Laissue, P., 2014. BMP15 c.-9C>G promoter sequence variant may contribute to the cause of nonsyndromic premature ovarian failure. Reprod. Biomed. Online 29, 627–633. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.rbmo.2014.07.018.
- Fonseca, D.J., Patiño, L.C., Suárez, Y.C., de Jesús Rodríguez, A., Mateus, H.E., Jiménez, K.M., Ortega-Recalde, O., Díaz-Yamal, I., Laissue, P., 2015. Next generation sequencing in women affected by nonsyndromic premature ovarian failure displays new potential causative genes and mutations. Fertil. Steril. 104, 154–162. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.fertnstert.2015.04.016 e2.
- França, M.M., Lerario, A.M., Funari, M.F.A., Nishi, M.Y., Narcizo, A.M., de Mello, M.P., Guerra-Junior, G., Maciel-Guerra, A.T., Mendonça, B.B., 2017. A novel homozygous missense FSHR variant associated with hypergonadotropic hypogonadism in two siblings from a Brazilian family. Sex. Dev. 11, 137–142. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1159/000477193.
- Galloway, S.M., McNatty, K.P., Cambridge, L.M., Laitinen, M.P., Juengel, J.L., Jokiranta, T.S., McLaren, R.J., Luiro, K., Dodds, K.G., Montgomery, G.W., Beattie, A.E., Davis, G.H., Ritvos, O., 2000. Mutations in an oocyte-derived growth factor gene (BMP15) cause increased ovulation rate and infertility in a dosage-sensitive manner. Nat. Genet. 25, 279–283. http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/ 77033.
- Georges, A., Auguste, A., Bessiere, L., Vanet, A., Todeschini, A.-L., Veitia, R.A., 2013. FOXL2: a central transcription factor of the ovary. J. Mol. Endocrinol. 52, R17–R33. http://dx.doi.org/10.1530/JME-13-0159.
- Goodwin, S., McPherson, J.D., McCombie, W.R., 2016. Coming of age: ten years of next-generation sequencing technologies. Nat. Rev. Genet. 17, 333–351. http:// dx.doi.org/10.1038/nrg.2016.49.
- Guo, T., Zhao, S., Zhao, S., Chen, M., Li, G., Jiao, X., Wang, Z., Zhao, Y., Qin, Y., Gao, F., Chen, Z.-J., 2017. Mutations in MSH5 in primary ovarian insufficiency. Hum. Mol. Genet. http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/hmg/ddx044.
- Hanrahan, J.P., Gregan, S.M., Mulsant, P., Mullen, M., Davis, G.H., Powell, R., Galloway, S.M., 2004. Mutations in the genes for oocyte-derived growth factors GDF9 and BMP15 are associated with both increased ovulation rate and sterility in Cambridge and Belclare sheep (Ovis aries). Biol. Reprod. 70, 900–909. http:// dx.doi.org/10.1095/biolreprod.103.023093.
- Herrán, Y., Gutiérrez-Caballero, C., Sánchez-Martín, M., Hernández, T., Viera, A., Barbero, J.L., de Álava, E., de Rooij, D.G., Suja, J.Á., Llano, E., Pendás, A.M., 2011. The cohesin subunit RAD21L functions in meiotic synapsis and exhibits sexual dimorphism in fertility. EMBO J. 30, 3091–3105. http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/ emboj.2011.222.
- Hikiba, J., Hirota, K., Kagawa, W., Ikawa, S., Kinebuchi, T., Sakane, I., Takizawa, Y., Yokoyama, S., Mandon-Pépin, B., Nicolas, A., Shibata, T., Ohta, K., Kurumizaka, H., 2008. Structural and functional analyses of the DMC1-M200V polymorphism found in the human population. Nucleic Acids Res. 36, 4181–4190. http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkn362.
- Hodges, C.A., Revenkova, E., Jessberger, R., Hassold, T.J., Hunt, P.A., 2005. SMC1betadeficient female mice provide evidence that cohesins are a missing link in agerelated nondisjunction. Nat. Genet. 37, 1351–1355. http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/ ng1672.
- Hu, Y.-C., Okumura, L.M., Page, D.C., 2013. Gata4 is required for formation of the genital ridge in mice. PLoS Genet. 9, e1003629. http://dx.doi.org/10.1371/ journal.pgen.1003629.
- Hunter, N., 2015. Meiotic recombination: the essence of heredity. Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Biol. 7. http://dx.doi.org/10.1101/cshperspect.a016618.
- Inagaki, A., Roset, R., Petrini, J.H.J., 2016. Functions of the MRE11 complex in the development and maintenance of oocytes. Chromosoma 125, 151–162. http:// dx.doi.org/10.1007/s00412-015-0535-8.
- Jameson, S.A., Lin, Y.-T., Capel, B., 2012. Testis development requires the repression of Wnt4 by Fgf signaling. Dev. Biol. 370, 24–32. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/ j.ydbio.2012.06.009.
- Katoh-Fukui, Y., Tsuchiya, R., Shiroishi, T., Nakahara, Y., Hashimoto, N., Noguchi, K., Higashinakagawa, T., 1998. Male-to-female sex reversal in M33 mutant mice. Nature 393, 688–692. http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/31482.
- Katoh-Fukui, Y., Miyabayashi, K., Komatsu, T., Owaki, A., Baba, T., Shima, Y., Kidokoro, T., Kanai, Y., Schedl, A., Wilhelm, D., Koopman, P., Okuno, Y., Morohashi, K., 2012. Cbx2, a polycomb group gene, is required for Sry gene expression in mice. Endocrinology 153, 913–924. http://dx.doi.org/10.1210/ en.2011-1055.
- Kim, Y., Kobayashi, A., Sekido, R., DiNapoli, L., Brennan, J., Chaboissier, M.-C., Poulat, F., Behringer, R.R., Lovell-Badge, R., Capel, B., 2006. Fgf9 and Wnt4 act as antagonistic signals to regulate mammalian sex determination. PLoS Biol. 4, e187. http://dx.doi.org/10.1371/journal.pbio.0040187.
- Kim, K., Seong, M.W., Chung, W.H., Park, S.S., Leem, S., Park, W., Kim, J., Lee, K., Park, R.W., Kim, N., 2015. Effect of next-generation exome sequencing depth for discovery of diagnostic variants. Genomics Inf. 13, 31–39. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.5808/GI.2015.13.2.31.
- Kneitz, B., Cohen, P.E., Avdievich, E., Zhu, L., Kane, M.F., Hou, H., Kolodner, R.D., Kucherlapati, R., Pollard, J.W., Edelmann, W., 2000. MutS homolog 4 localization

to meiotic chromosomes is required for chromosome pairing during meiosis in male and female mice. Genes Dev. 14, 1085–1097. http://dx.doi.org/10.1101/gad.14.9.1085.

- Koopman, P., 2016. The curious World of gonadal development in mammals. Curr. Top. Dev. Biol. 116, 537–545. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/bs.ctdb.2015.12.009.
- Koopman, P., Gubbay, J., Collignon, J., Lovell-Badge, R., 1989. Zfy gene expression patterns are not compatible with a primary role in mouse sex determination. Nature 342, 940–942. http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/342940a0.
- Koubova, J., Menke, D.B., Zhou, Q., Capel, B., Griswold, M.D., Page, D.C., 2006. Retinoic acid regulates sex-specific timing of meiotic initiation in mice. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 103, 2474–2479. http://dx.doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0510813103.
- Kreidberg, J.A., Sariola, H., Loring, J.M., Maeda, M., Pelletier, J., Housman, D., Jaenisch, R., 1993. WT-1 is required for early kidney development. Cell 74, 679–691.
- Kuo, C.T., Morrisey, E.E., Anandappa, R., Sigrist, K., Lu, M.M., Parmacek, M.S., Soudais, C., Leiden, J.M., 1997. GATA4 transcription factor is required for ventral morphogenesis and heart tube formation. Genes Dev. 11, 1048–1060.
- Lacombe, A., Lee, H., Zahed, L., Choucair, M., Muller, J.-M., Nelson, S.F., Salameh, W., Vilain, E., 2006. Disruption of POF1B binding to nonmuscle actin filaments is associated with premature ovarian failure. Am. J. Hum. Genet. 79, 113–119. http://dx.doi.org/10.1086/505406.
- Laissue, P., 2015. Aetiological coding sequence variants in non-syndromic premature ovarian failure: from genetic linkage analysis to next generation sequencing. Mol. Cell. Endocrinol. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.mce.2015.05.005.
- Laissue, P., Vinci, G., Veitia, R.A., Fellous, M., 2008. Recent advances in the study of genes involved in non-syndromic premature ovarian failure. Mol. Cell. Endocrinol. 282, 101–111. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.mce.2007.11.005.
- Laity, J.H., Dyson, H.J., Wright, P.E., 2000. Molecular basis for modulation of biological function by alternate splicing of the Wilms' tumor suppressor protein. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 97, 11932–11935. http://dx.doi.org/10.1073/ pnas.97.22.11932.
- Lakhal, B., Ben-Hadj-Khalifa, S., Bouali, N., Braham, R., Hatem, E., Saad, A., 2012. Mutational screening of SF1 and WNT4 in Tunisian women with premature ovarian failure. Gene 509, 298–301. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/ j.gene.2012.08.007.
- Lei, Z.M., Mishra, S., Zou, W., Xu, B., Foltz, M., Li, X., Rao, C.V., 2001. Targeted disruption of luteinizing hormone/human chorionic gonadotropin receptor gene. Mol. Endocrinol. 15, 184–200. http://dx.doi.org/10.1210/mend.15.1.0586.
- Li, H., Clagett-Dame, M., 2009. Vitamin A deficiency blocks the initiation of meiosis of germ cells in the developing rat ovary in vivo. Biol. Reprod. 81, 996–1001. http://dx.doi.org/10.1095/biolreprod.109.078808.
- Li, L., Wang, B., Zhang, W., Chen, B., Luo, M., Wang, J., Wang, X., Cao, Y., Kee, K., 2017. A homozygous NOBOX truncating variant causes defective transcriptional activation and leads to primary ovarian insufficiency. Hum. Reprod. 32, 248–255. http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/humrep/dew271.
- Liang, L., Soyal, S.M., Dean, J., 1997. FIGalpha, a germ cell specific transcription factor involved in the coordinate expression of the zona pellucida genes. Development 124, 4939–4947.
- Lipkin, S.M., Moens, P.B., Wang, V., Lenzi, M., Shanmugarajah, D., Gilgeous, A., Thomas, J., Cheng, J., Touchman, J.W., Green, E.D., Schwartzberg, P., Collins, F.S., Cohen, P.E., 2002. Meiotic arrest and aneuploidy in MLH3-deficient mice. Nat. Genet. 31, 385–390. http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/ng931.
- Lourenço, D., Brauner, R., Rybczynska, M., Nihoul-Fékété, C., McElreavey, K., Bashamboo, A., 2011. Loss-of-function mutation in GATA4 causes anomalies of human testicular development. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 108, 1597–1602. http://dx.doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1010257108.
- Lu, J., Gu, Y., Feng, J., Zhou, W., Yang, X., Shen, Y., 2014. Structural insight into the central element assembly of the synaptonemal complex. Sci. Rep. 4, 7059. http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/srep07059.
- Luborsky, J.L., Meyer, P., Sowers, M.F., Gold, E.B., Santoro, N., 2003. Premature menopause in a multi-ethnic population study of the menopause transition. Hum. Reprod. 18, 199–206.
- Luo, X., Ikeda, Y., Parker, K.L., 1994. A cell-specific nuclear receptor is essential for adrenal and gonadal development and sexual differentiation. Cell 77, 481–490.
- Lutzmann, M., Grey, C., Traver, S., Ganier, O., Maya-Mendoza, A., Ranisavljevic, N., Bernex, F., Nishiyama, A., Montel, N., Gavois, E., Forichon, L., de Massy, B., Méchali, M., 2012. MCM8- and MCM9-deficient mice reveal gametogenesis defects and genome instability due to impaired homologous recombination. Mol. Cell 47, 523–534. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2012.05.048.
- Mandel, H., Shemer, R., Borochowitz, Z.U., Okopnik, M., Knopf, C., Indelman, M., Drugan, A., Tiosano, D., Gershoni-Baruch, R., Choder, M., Sprecher, E., 2008. SERKAL syndrome: an autosomal-recessive disorder caused by a loss-offunction mutation in WNT4. Am. J. Hum. Genet. 82, 39–47. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1016/j.ajhg.2007.08.005.
- Mandon-Pepin, B., Touraine, P., Kuttenn, F., Derbois, C., Rouxel, A., Matsuda, F., Nicolas, A., Cotinot, C., Fellous, M., 2008. Genetic investigation of four meiotic genes in women with premature ovarian failure. Eur. J. Endocrinol. 158, 107–115. http://dx.doi.org/10.1530/EJE-07-0400.
- Manhart, C.M., Alani, E., 2016. Roles for mismatch repair family proteins in promoting meiotic crossing over. DNA Repair (Amst) 38, 84–93. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1016/j.dnarep.2015.11.024.
- Mascarenhas, M.N., Flaxman, S.R., Boerma, T., Vanderpoel, S., Stevens, G.A., 2012. National, regional, and global trends in infertility prevalence since 1990: a systematic analysis of 277 health surveys. PLoS Med. 9, e1001356. http:// dx.doi.org/10.1371/journal.pmed.1001356.

- de Massy, B., 2013. Initiation of meiotic recombination: how and where? Conservation and specificities among eukaryotes. Annu. Rev. Genet. 47, 563–599. http://dx.doi.org/10.1146/annurev-genet-110711-155423.
- Matzuk, M.M., Burns, K.H., 2012. Genetics of mammalian reproduction: modeling the end of the germline. Annu. Rev. Physiol. 74, 503–528. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1146/annurev-physiol-020911-153248.
- Matzuk, M.M., Lamb, D.J., 2002. Genetic dissection of mammalian fertility pathways. Nat. Cell Biol. 4 (Suppl. I), s41–s49. http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/ncb-nmfertilityS41.
- Matzuk, M.M., Lamb, D.J., 2008. The biology of infertility: research advances and clinical challenges. Nat. Med. 14, 1197–1213. http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/ nm.f.1895.
- Matzuk, M.M., Finegold, M.J., Su, J.G., Hsueh, A.J., Bradley, A., 1992. Alpha-inhibin is a tumour-suppressor gene with gonadal specificity in mice. Nature 360, 313–319. http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/360313a0.
- McCarthy, J.J., McLeod, H.L., Ginsburg, G.S., 2013. Genomic medicine: a decade of successes, challenges, and opportunities. Sci. Transl. Med. 5, 189sr4. http:// dx.doi.org/10.1126/scitranslmed.3005785.
- Meduri, G., Bachelot, A., Cocca, M.P., Vasseur, C., Rodien, P., Kuttenn, F., Touraine, P., Misrahi, M., 2008. Molecular pathology of the FSH receptor: new insights into FSH physiology. Mol. Cell Endocrinol. 282 (1–2), 130–142. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1016/j.mce.2007.11.027.
- Meynert, A.M., Bicknell, L.S., Hurles, M.E., Jackson, A.P., Taylor, M.S., 2013. Quantifying single nucleotide variant detection sensitivity in exome sequencing. BMC Bioinforma. 14, 195. http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/1471-2105-14-195.
- Meynert, A.M., Ansari, M., FitzPatrick, D.R., Taylor, M.S., 2014. Variant detection sensitivity and biases in whole genome and exome sequencing. BMC Bioinforma. 15, 247. http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/1471-2105-15-247.
- Miller-Hodges, E., Hohenstein, P., 2012. WT1 in disease: shifting the epithelialmesenchymal balance. J. Pathol. 226, 229–240. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/ path.2977.
- Miyamoto, N., Yoshida, M., Kuratani, S., Matsuo, I., Aizawa, S., 1997. Defects of urogenital development in mice lacking Emx2. Development 124, 1653–1664.
- Molkentin, J.D., Lin, Q., Duncan, S.A., Olson, E.N., 1997. Requirement of the transcription factor GATA4 for heart tube formation and ventral morphogenesis. Genes Dev. 11, 1061–1072.
- Nef, S., Schaad, O., Stallings, N.R., Cederroth, C.R., Pitetti, J.-L., Schaer, G., Malki, S., Dubois-Dauphin, M., Boizet-Bonhoure, B., Descombes, P., Parker, K.L., Vassalli, J.-D., 2005. Gene expression during sex determination reveals a robust female genetic program at the onset of ovarian development. Dev. Biol. 287, 361–377. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ydbio.2005.09.008.
- Nicol, B., Yao, H.H.-C., 2015. Gonadal identity in the absence of pro-testis factor SOX9 and pro-ovary factor beta-catenin in mice. Biol. Reprod. 93, 35. http:// dx.doi.org/10.1095/biolreprod.115.131276.
- Pangas, S.A., Choi, Y., Ballow, D.J., Zhao, Y., Westphal, H., Matzuk, M.M., Rajkovic, A., 2006. Oogenesis requires germ cell-specific transcriptional regulators Sohlh1 and Lhx8. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 103, 8090–8095. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1073/pnas.0601083103.
- Pangas, S.A., Jorgez, C.J., Tran, M., Agno, J., Li, X., Brown, C.W., Kumar, T.R., Matzuk, M.M., 2007. Intraovarian activins are required for female fertility. Mol. Endocrinol. 21, 2458–2471. http://dx.doi.org/10.1210/me.2007-0146.
- Parma, P., Radi, O., Vidal, V., Chaboissier, M.C., Dellambra, E., Valentini, S., Guerra, L., Schedl, A., Camerino, G., 2006. R-spondin1 is essential in sex determination, skin differentiation and malignancy. Nat. Genet. 38, 1304–1309. http:// dx.doi.org/10.1038/ng1907.
- Di Pasquale, E., Beck-Peccoz, P., Persani, L., 2004. Hypergonadotropic ovarian failure associated with an inherited mutation of human bone morphogenetic protein-15 (BMP15) gene. Am. J. Hum. Genet. 75, 106–111. http://dx.doi.org/10.1086/ 422103.
- Patiño, L.C., Beau, I., Carlosama, C., Buitrago, J.C., González, R., Suárez, C.F., Patarroyo, M.A., Delemer, B., Young, J., Binart, N., Laissue, P., 2017a. New mutations in non-syndromic primary ovarian insufficiency patients identified via whole-exome sequencing. Hum. Reprod. 1–9. http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/humrep/dex089.
- Patiño, L.C., Walton, K.L., Mueller, T.D., Johnson, K.E., Stocker, W., Richani, D., Agapiou, D., Gilchrist, R.B., Laissue, P., Harrison, C.A., 2017b. BMP15 mutations associated with primary ovarian insufficiency reduce expression, activity, or synergy with GDF9. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 102, 1009–1019. http:// dx.doi.org/10.1210/jc.2016-3503.
- Patiño, L.C., Silgado, D., Laissue, P., 2017c. A potential functional association between mutant BMPR2 and primary ovarian insufficiency. Syst. Biol. Reprod. Med. 63, 145–149. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/19396368.2017.1291767.
- Persani, L, Rossetti, R., Cacciatore, C., Fabre, S., 2011. Genetic defects of ovarian TGFβ-like factors and premature ovarian failure. J. Endocrinol. Invest. 34, 244–251. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/BF03347073.
- Persani, L., Rossetti, R., Di pasquale, E., Cacciatore, C., Fabre, S., 2014. The fundamental role of bone morphogenetic protein 15 in ovarian function and its involvement in female fertility disorders. Hum. Reprod. Update 20, 869–883. http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/humupd/dmu036.
- Pittman, D.L., Cobb, J., Schimenti, K.J., Wilson, L.A., Cooper, D.M., Brignull, E., Handel, M.A., Schimenti, J.C., 1998. Meiotic prophase arrest with failure of chromosome synapsis in mice deficient for Dmc1, a germline-specific RecA homolog. Mol. Cell 1, 697–705.
- Prieto, I., Tease, C., Pezzi, N., Buesa, J.M., Ortega, S., Kremer, L., Martínez, A., Martínez-A, C., Hultén, M.A., Barbero, J.L., 2004. Cohesin component dynamics during

meiotic prophase I in mammalian oocytes. Chromosome Res. 12, 197-213.

- Qin, Y., Choi, Y., Zhao, H., Simpson, J.L., Chen, Z.-J., Rajkovic, A., 2007. NOBOX homeobox mutation causes premature ovarian failure. Am. J. Hum. Genet. 81, 576–581. http://dx.doi.org/10.1086/519496.
- Qin, Y., Jiao, X., Dalgleish, R., Vujovic, S., Li, J., Simpson, J.L., Al-Azzawi, F., Chen, Z.-J., 2014. Novel variants in the SOHLH2 gene are implicated in human premature ovarian failure. Fertil. Steril. 101, 1104–1109. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.fertnstert.2014.01.001 e6.
- Qin, Y., Guo, T., Li, G., Tang, T.-S., Zhao, S., Jiao, X., Gong, J., Gao, F., Guo, C., Simpson, J.L., Chen, Z.-J., 2015a. CSB-PGBD3 mutations cause premature ovarian failure. PLoS Genet. 11, e1005419. http://dx.doi.org/10.1371/ journal.pgen.1005419.
- Qin, Y., Guo, T., Li, G., Tang, T.-S., Zhao, S., Jiao, X., Gong, J., Gao, F., Guo, C., Simpson, J.L., Chen, Z.-J., 2015b. CSB-PGBD3 mutations cause premature ovarian failure. PLoS Genet. 11, e1005419. http://dx.doi.org/10.1371/ journal.pgen.1005419.
- Rajkovic, A., Pangas, S.A., Ballow, D., Suzumori, N., Matzuk, M.M., 2004. NOBOX deficiency disrupts early folliculogenesis and oocyte-specific gene expression. Science 305, 1157–1159. http://dx.doi.org/10.1126/science.1099755.
- Rannikko, A., Pakarinen, P., Manna, P.R., Beau, I., Misrahi, M., Aittomäki, K., Huhtaniemi, I., 2002. Functional characterization of the human FSH receptor with an inactivating Ala189Val mutation. Mol. Hum. Reprod. 8, 311–317. http:// dx.doi.org/10.1093/molehr/8.4.311.
- Rauscher, F.J., Morris, J.F., Tournay, O.E., Cook, D.M., Curran, T., 1990. Binding of the Wilms' tumor locus zinc finger protein to the EGR-1 consensus sequence. Science 250, 1259–1262.
- Reddy, P., Liu, L., Adhikari, D., Jagarlamudi, K., Rajareddy, S., Shen, Y., Du, C., Tang, W., Hämäläinen, T., Peng, S.L., Lan, Z.-J., Cooney, A.J., Huhtaniemi, I., Liu, K., 2008. Oocyte-specific deletion of Pten causes premature activation of the primordial follicle pool. Science 319, 611–613. http://dx.doi.org/10.1126/science.1152257.
- Romanienko, P.J., Camerini-Otero, R.D., 2000. The mouse Spo11 gene is required for meiotic chromosome synapsis. Mol. Cell 6, 975–987.
- Roset, R., Inagaki, A., Hohl, M., Brenet, F., Lafrance-Vanasse, J., Lange, J., Scandura, J.M., Tainer, J.A., Keeney, S., Petrini, J.H.J., 2014. The Rad50 hook domain regulates DNA damage signaling and tumorigenesis. Genes Dev. 28, 451–462. http://dx.doi.org/10.1101/gad.236745.113.
- Rossetti, R., Di Pasquale, E., Marozzi, A., Bione, S., Toniolo, D., Grammatico, P., Nelson, L.M., Beck-Peccoz, P., Persani, L., 2009. BMP15 mutations associated with primary ovarian insufficiency cause a defective production of bioactive protein. Hum. Mutat. 30, 804–810. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/humu.20961.
- Roy, A., Matzuk, M.M., 2006. Deconstructing mammalian reproduction: using knockouts to define fertility pathways. Reproduction 131, 207–219. http:// dx.doi.org/10.1530/rep.1.00530.
- Schmidt, D., Ovitt, C.E., Anlag, K., Fehsenfeld, S., Gredsted, L., Treier, A.-C., Treier, M., 2004. The murine winged-helix transcription factor Foxl2 is required for granulosa cell differentiation and ovary maintenance. Development 131, 933–942. http://dx.doi.org/10.1242/dev.00969.
- Schuettengruber, B., Chourrout, D., Vervoort, M., Leblanc, B., Cavalli, G., 2007. Genome regulation by polycomb and trithorax proteins. Cell 128, 735–745. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2007.02.009.
- Shelling, A.N., 2012. Mutations in inhibin and activin genes associated with human disease. Mol. Cell. Endocrinol. 359, 113–120. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/ j.mce.2011.07.031.
- Shimizu, Y., Kimura, F., Takebayashi, K., Fujiwara, M., Takakura, K., Takahashi, K., 2009. Mutational analysis of the PTEN gene in women with premature ovarian failure. Acta Obstet. Gynecol. Scand. 88, 824–825. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/ 00016340902971458.
- Sims, D., Sudbery, I., Ilott, N.E., Heger, A., Ponting, C.P., 2014. Sequencing depth and coverage: key considerations in genomic analyses. Nat. Rev. Genet. 15, 121–132. http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/nrg3642.
- Smith, S., Pfeifer, S.M., Collins, J.A., 2003. Diagnosis and management of female infertility. JAMA 290, 1767–1770. http://dx.doi.org/10.1001/jama.290.13.1767.
- Soyal, S.M., Amleh, A., Dean, J., 2000. FIGalpha, a germ cell-specific transcription factor required for ovarian follicle formation. Development 127, 4645–4654.
- Suzuki, A., Saga, Y., 2008. Nanos2 suppresses meiosis and promotes male germ cell differentiation. Genes Dev. 22, 430–435. http://dx.doi.org/10.1101/gad.1612708.
- Suzuki, H., Kanai-Azuma, M., Kanai, Y., 2015. From sex determination to initial folliculogenesis in mammalian ovaries: morphogenetic waves along the anteroposterior and dorsoventral axes. Sex. Dev. 9, 190–204. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1159/000440689.
- Suzumori, N., Yan, C., Matzuk, M.M., Rajkovic, A., 2002. Nobox is a homeoboxencoding gene preferentially expressed in primordial and growing oocytes. Mech. Dev. 111, 137–141.
- Svingen, T., Koopman, P., 2013. Building the mammalian testis: origins, differentiation, and assembly of the component cell populations. Genes Dev. 27, 2409–2426. http://dx.doi.org/10.1101/gad.228080.113.
- Tevosian, S.G., 2014. Transgenic mouse models in the study of reproduction: insights into GATA protein function. Reproduction 148, R1–R14. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1530/REP-14-0086.
- Tomaselli, S., Megiorni, F., De Bernardo, C., Felici, A., Marrocco, G., Maggiulli, G., Grammatico, B., Remotti, D., Saccucci, P., Valentini, F., Mazzilli, M.C., Majore, S., Grammatico, P., 2008. Syndromic true hermaphroditism due to an R-spondin1 (RSP01) homozygous mutation. Hum. Mutat. 29, 220–226. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1002/humu.20665.
- Tsuda, M., Sasaoka, Y., Kiso, M., Abe, K., Haraguchi, S., Kobayashi, S., Saga, Y., 2003.

Conserved role of nanos proteins in germ cell development. Science 301, 1239-1241. http://dx.doi.org/10.1126/science.1085222.

- Uda, M., Ottolenghi, C., Crisponi, L., Garcia, J.E., Deiana, M., Kimber, W., Forabosco, A., Cao, A., Schlessinger, D., Pilia, G., 2004. Foxl2 disruption causes mouse ovarian failure by pervasive blockage of follicle development. Hum. Mol. Genet. 13, 1171–1181. http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/hmg/ddh124.
- Vainio, S., Heikkilä, M., Kispert, A., Chin, N., McMahon, A.P., 1999. Female development in mammals is regulated by Wnt-4 signalling. Nature 397, 405–409. http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/17068.
- Vinci, G., Christin-Maitre, S., Pasquier, M., Bouchard, P., Fellous, M., Veitia, R.A., 2008. FOXO3a variants in patients with premature ovarian failure. Clin. Endocrinol. (Oxf) 68, 495–497. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2265.2007.03052.x.
- de Vries, S.S., Baart, E.B., Dekker, M., Siezen, A., de Rooij, D.G., de Boer, P., te Riele, H., 1999. Mouse MutS-like protein Msh5 is required for proper chromosome synapsis in male and female meiosis. Genes Dev. 13, 523–531.
- de Vries, F.A.T., de Boer, E., van den Bosch, M., Baarends, W.M., Ooms, M., Yuan, L., Liu, J.-G., van Zeeland, A.A., Heyting, C., Pastink, A., 2005. Mouse Sycp1 functions in synaptonemal complex assembly, meiotic recombination, and XY body formation. Genes Dev. 19, 1376–1389. http://dx.doi.org/10.1101/gad.329705.
- de Vries, L., Behar, D.M., Smirin-Yosef, P., Lagovsky, I., Tzur, S., Basel-Vanagaite, L., 2014. Exome sequencing reveals SYCE1 mutation associated with autosomal recessive primary ovarian insufficiency. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 99, E2129–E2132. http://dx.doi.org/10.1210/jc.2014-1268.
- Wainwright, E.N., Svingen, T., Ng, E.T., Wicking, C., Koopman, P., 2014. Primary cilia function regulates the length of the embryonic trunk axis and urogenital field in mice. Dev. Biol. 395, 342–354. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ydbio.2014.08.037.
- Wang, B., Mu, Y., Ni, F., Zhou, S., Wang, J., Cao, Y., Ma, X., 2010. Analysis of FOXO3 mutation in 114 Chinese women with premature ovarian failure. Reprod. Biomed. Online 20, 499–503. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.rbmo.2010.01.008.
- Wilhelm, D., 2002. The Wilms tumor suppressor WT1 regulates early gonad development by activation of Sf1. Genes Dev. 16, 1839–1851. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1101/gad.220102.

- Windley, S.P., Wilhelm, D., 2015. Signaling pathways involved in mammalian sex determination and gonad development. Sex. Dev. 9, 297–315. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1159/000444065.
- Wong, M., Ramayya, M.S., Chrousos, G.P., Driggers, P.H., Parker, K.L., 1996. Cloning and sequence analysis of the human gene encoding steroidogenic factor 1. J. Mol. Endocrinol. 17, 139–147.
- Wood, M.A., Rajkovic, A., 2013. Genomic markers of ovarian reserve. Semin. Reprod. Med. 31, 399–415. http://dx.doi.org/10.1055/s-0033-1356476.
- Wood-Trageser, M.A., Gurbuz, F., Yatsenko, S.A., Jeffries, E.P., Kotan, L.D., Surti, U., Ketterer, D.M., Matic, J., Chipkin, J., Jiang, H., Trakselis, M.A., Topaloglu, A.K., Rajkovic, A., 2014. MCM9 mutations are associated with ovarian failure, short stature, and chromosomal instability. Am. J. Hum. Genet. 95, 754–762. http:// dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ajhg.2014.11.002.
- Wu, X., Wang, B., Dong, Z., Zhou, S., Liu, Z., Shi, G., Cao, Y., Xu, Y., 2013. A NANOS3 mutation linked to protein degradation causes premature ovarian insufficiency. Cell Death Dis. 4, e825. http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/cddis.2013.368.
- Yan, C., Wang, P., DeMayo, J., DeMayo, F.J., Elvin, J.A., Carino, C., Prasad, S.V., Skinner, S.S., Dunbar, B.S., Dube, J.L., Celeste, A.J., Matzuk, M.M., 2001. Synergistic roles of bone morphogenetic protein 15 and growth differentiation factor 9 in ovarian function. Mol. Endocrinol. 15, 854–866. http://dx.doi.org/10.1210/ mend.15.6.0662.
- Yoshida, K., Kondoh, G., Matsuda, Y., Habu, T., Nishimune, Y., Morita, T., 1998. The mouse RecA-like gene Dmc1 is required for homologous chromosome synapsis during meiosis. Mol. Cell 1, 707–718.
- Zhang, F.P., Poutanen, M., Wilbertz, J., Huhtaniemi, I., 2001. Normal prenatal but arrested postnatal sexual development of luteinizing hormone receptor knockout (LuRKO) mice. Mol. Endocrinol. 15, 172–183. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1210/mend.15.1.0582.
- Zhao, H., Chen, Z.-J., Qin, Y., Shi, Y., Wang, S., Choi, Y., Simpson, J.L., Rajkovic, A., 2008. Transcription factor FIGLA is mutated in patients with premature ovarian failure. Am. J. Hum. Genet. 82, 1342–1348. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/ j.ajhg.2008.04.018.